
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

-----------------------------------------------------------x 

             : 

YVETTE BROWN,           : 

             : 

    Plaintiff,         : 

             : 

  -against-          :  COMPLAINT 

             : 

             :  

DR. BENJAMIN KUR, DDS AND          : 

WESTCHESTER ORAL          : 

& MAXILLOFACIAL ASSOCIATES, PLLC     : 

             : 

    Defendants.        : 

-----------------------------------------------------------x 

 Plaintiff, YVETTE BROWN, by her attorney, alleges upon personal knowledge to her 

own acts and upon information and belief as to all other matters as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is a civil rights action brought by Yvette Brown (“Plaintiff” or “Ms. 

Brown”), a forty-eight year old, Black woman living with the human immunodeficiency virus 

(“HIV”), for discrimination on the basis of her HIV status and for the unauthorized disclosure of 

her statutorily protected, confidential HIV-related information by Defendants, Benjamin Kur, 

DDS (“Dr. Kur”) and Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC, in Westchester 

County, New York.   

2. Ms. Brown brings this action against Defendants for violations of Title III of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, Section 1557 of the 

Affordable Care Act, the New York State Human Rights Law, and the Westchester County 

Human Rights Law. 
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3. Without authorization, and in violation of Article 27-F of the New York State 

Public Health Law, Defendants disclosed Ms. Brown’s confidential HIV-related information to 

the Westchester County Department of Health to prompt an investigation of Ms. Brown. 

Defendants’ actions were willful and malicious, and not in good faith. 

4. Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief holding that Defendants’ actions constitute 

discrimination based on disability in violation of federal, state and local antidiscrimination laws, 

and compensatory damages and punitive damages, where available, for the harms she suffered. 

Plaintiff requests an order enjoining Defendants and their employees from discriminating against 

her or other individuals living with HIV and requiring Defendants to modify their policies, 

practices and procedures, including training of their employees, to comply with federal, state and 

local antidiscrimination laws and New York State Public Health Law, as they apply to 

individuals living with HIV. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1343 for civil actions arising under the laws of the United States; 29 U.S.C. § 794a 

as an action pursuant to § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; 42 U.S.C § 12133 as an action 

pursuant to the American with Disabilities Act of 1990; and 42 U.S.C. § 18116(a) for violation 

of the Affordable Care Act.  

6. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ New York State Human 

Rights Law claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), because this claim shares a common nucleus 

of operative facts with the federal claims and is so related to the federal claims as to form part of 

the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 
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7. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s Westchester County 

Human Rights Law claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), because this claim shares a common 

nucleus of operative facts with the federal claims and is so related to the federal claims as to 

form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 

8. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s unauthorized disclosure 

of HIV-related information claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), because this claim shares a 

common nucleus of operative facts with the federal claims and is so related to the federal claims 

as to form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States 

Constitution. 

9. Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 and Rule 

57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

10. Venue lies in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the 

discriminatory practices complained of herein occurred in Westchester County within the 

Southern District of New York. 

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Yvette Brown is living with HIV.  Ms. Brown resides in West 

Haverstraw, Rockland County, New York.  

12. Defendant Benjamin Kur, DDS., is a licensed dentist in the state of New York.  

Dr. Kur provides dental services and sells goods at Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates 

located at 19 Bradhurst Ave., #2500N Hawthorne, NY 10532, in Westchester County, New 

York. 

13. On information and belief, Dr. Kur resides in Westchester County, New York.  

Case 7:16-cv-09118-NSR-PED   Document 4   Filed 11/28/16   Page 3 of 15



14. Defendant Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC, is a domestic 

professional service limited liability company registered in the state of New York, located at 19 

Bradhurst Ave., #2500N Hawthorne, NY 10532, in Westchester County, New York.  Defendant 

provides services and sells goods at this location.   

15. On information and belief, at all times relevant to this complaint, 

Defendants Kur and Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC, accepted funds 

from Medicare and/or Medicaid as payment for dental services Defendants rendered to 

certain individuals.  

FACTS 

16. Ms. Brown is a forty-eight year old Black woman who is living with HIV. 

17. On May 3, 2016, Ms. Brown met with Defendant Kur in the offices of Defendant 

Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC to discuss treatment options for two cracked 

teeth that were causing her pain.  

18. In their conversation on May 3, 2016, Defendant Kur recommended extracting the 

two teeth and discussed the purchase of teeth implants as an option. 

19. Defendant Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC, scheduled an 

appointment for May 24, 2016, with Defendant Kur to perform the extraction of two teeth.  

20. On May 24, 2016, Ms. Brown, accompanied by her friend Melva McBean, went 

to Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates for the extraction to be performed by Defendant 

Kur.  

21. On May 24, 2016 Defendant Kur performed the extraction of two teeth.   
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22. On information and belief, on May 24, 2016, Defendant Kur sent electronically a 

prescription for Percocet 5/325, a pain medication for her post-extraction pain, to CVS Pharmacy 

located at 20 Filors Lane, Stony Point, NY 10980. 

23. On information and belief, a CVS pharmacist contacted Defendant Kur via 

telephone and indicated to Defendant Kur that Ms. Brown was taking antiretroviral medications.   

24. On information and belief, based on the information that Ms. Brown was taking 

antiretroviral medications, Defendant Kur canceled the prescription for Percocet. 

25. Having learned that Ms. Brown was taking antiretroviral medications, Defendant 

Kur escorted Ms. Brown from the waiting area into an office and once there, Defendant Kur 

confronted Ms. Brown and asked her if she was HIV-positive.   

26. Ms. Brown confirmed to Defendant Kur that she is indeed HIV-positive. 

27. On hearing from Ms. Brown that she is HIV-positive, Defendant Kur called Ms. 

Brown “disgusting” and told her that she was a “criminal.” 

28. Defendant Kur also told Ms. Brown that he was going to report her to her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped. 

29. At some point in the conversation, Defendant Kur told Ms. Brown that she put 

him and his staff at risk. 

30. Defendant Kur also told Ms. Brown that it was not right to allow him and his staff 

to perform a surgical procedure without telling them her HIV status. 

31. Ms. Brown left the office, and Defendant Kur continued to confront Ms. Brown in 

the public waiting room.   

32. Defendant Kur repeated that Ms. Brown was a criminal within earshot of his staff 

and Ms. Brown’s friend Melva McBean.   
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33. Defendant Kur’s comments and conduct made Ms. Brown feel demeaned, hurt, 

ashamed and embarrassed. Ms. Brown felt exposed and threatened when Dr. Kur accused her of 

being a criminal and said he would report her to her insurance company. 

34. Defendants told Ms. Brown to leave the office and for her not to come back.   

35. Defendant Kur did not provide Ms. Brown any follow-up care or referrals for 

such after the extraction of two teeth.   

36. After Ms. Brown left the office, she went to the CVS Pharmacy.   

37. On information and belief, the CVS pharmacist contacted Defendant Kur to 

discuss alternative pain medication that Ms. Brown could take.  

38. On information and belief, Defendant Kur refused to prescribe pain medication to 

Ms. Brown.   

39. On information and belief, without authorization, Defendants discussed Ms. 

Brown’s confidential HIV-related information with the Westchester County Health Department. 

On information and belief, Defendants sought to prompt the health department to begin an 

investigation of Ms. Brown.  

40. The conduct of Defendants was willful and malicious, and not in good faith.  

41. As a result of Defendants’ treatment of her, Ms. Brown experienced serious 

psychological and emotional distress. 

42. As a result of Defendants’ treatment of her, Ms. Brown experienced pain. 

CLAIMS 

 

First Cause of Action 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of Title III of the American with Disabilities Act 

(42 U.S.C. § 12182) 

 

43. Ms. Brown repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in  
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the aforementioned paragraphs. 

44. Plaintiff is an individual with a disability as defined in 42 U.S.C. §  

12131(2) and 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2)(B). 

45. Defendant Kur owns, leases or operates a place of public accommodation. 

42 U.S.C. § 12182.  

46. Defendant Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC is a public 

accommodation as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F). 

47. Defendant(s) subjected Ms. Brown, because she is HIV-positive to 

degrading and humiliating treatment including but not limited to by (1) calling her 

“disgusting” and a “criminal” because of her HIV-status, (2) threatening to contact her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped, (3) refusing to provide Ms. Brown a 

prescription for her pain, (4) kicking her out of the dental office and telling her not to 

come back, (5) failing to provide Ms. Brown a follow-up care or a referral for follow-up 

care after her dental procedure, and (6) disclosing her confidential HIV information to 

prompt an investigation of her.  

48. Defendants’ actions constitute unlawful discrimination prohibited under 

42 U.S.C. § 12182 and 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2). 

49. Ms. Brown has suffered damages because of Defendants’ discriminatory 

conduct. 

50. Ms. Brown is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs. 42 U.S.C. § 12188; 28 C.F.R. § 36.505. 

Second Cause of Action 
Violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 

(29 U.S.C. § 794a (as amended)) 

Case 7:16-cv-09118-NSR-PED   Document 4   Filed 11/28/16   Page 7 of 15



51. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the 

aforementioned paragraphs. 

52. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (as amended) (hereinafter 

“Rehabilitation Act”) provides that: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the 

United States  . . . shall, solely by reason of his or her 

disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied 

the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any 

program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance 

or activity conducted by any Executive agency[.]” 

29 U.S.C. § 794a (as amended). 

53. Plaintiff is a qualified individual with a disability as defined in 29 U.S.C. § 

705(20). 

54. Defendants receive federal financial assistance.  

55. Defendant(s) subjected Ms. Brown, because she is HIV-positive to 

degrading and humiliating treatment including but not limited to by (1) calling her 

“disgusting” and a “criminal” because of her HIV-status, (2) threatening to contact her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped, (3) refusing to provide Ms. Brown a 

prescription for her pain, (4) kicking her out of the dental office and telling her not to 

come back, (5) failing to provide Ms. Brown a follow-up care or a referral for follow-up 

care after her dental procedure, and (6) disclosing her confidential HIV information to 

prompt an investigation of her.  

56. Defendants’ actions constitute unlawful discrimination under Section 504 

of the Rehabilitation Act. 29 U.S.C. § 794. 

57. Ms. Brown suffered damages because of Defendants’ discriminatory 

conduct. 

Case 7:16-cv-09118-NSR-PED   Document 4   Filed 11/28/16   Page 8 of 15



58. Ms. Brown is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory 

damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs. 29 U.S.C. § 794a 

(as amended). 

Third Cause of Action 

Violation of Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (42 U.S.C. § 18116(a)) 

59. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the 

aforementioned paragraphs. 

60. Section 1557 states, “an individual shall not, on the ground prohibited 

under… section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973…be excluded from participation 

in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under, any health program 

or activity, any part of which is receiving Federal financial assistance . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 

18116(a). 

61. Defendants receive federal financial assistance.    

62. Defendant(s) subjected Ms. Brown, because she is HIV-positive to 

degrading and humiliating treatment including but not limited to by (1) calling her 

“disgusting” and a “criminal” because of her HIV-status, (2) threatening to contact her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped, (3) refusing to provide Ms. Brown a 

prescription for her pain, (4) kicking her out of the dental office and telling her not to 

come back, (5) failing to provide Ms. Brown a follow-up care or a referral for follow-up 

care after her dental procedure, and (6) disclosing her confidential HIV information to 

prompt an investigation of her.  

63. Defendants’ actions constitute unlawful discrimination under Section 1557 

of the Affordable Care Act. 
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64. Ms. Brown suffered damages because of Defendants’ discriminatory 

conduct. 

65. Ms. Brown is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory 

damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs. 29 U.S.C. § 794a 

(as amended). 

Fourth Cause of Action 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of the New York State Human Rights Law 

(N.Y. Exec. L. § 296) 

66. Ms. Brown repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in 

the aforementioned paragraphs. 

67. Under the New York State Human Rights Law (“NYSHRL”), it is 

unlawful for a public accommodation “because of the . . . disability . . . of any person, 

directly or indirectly, to refuse, withhold from or deny to such person any of the 

accommodations, advantages, facilities or privileges thereof . . .” N.Y. Exec. L. § 

296(2)(a). 

68. Plaintiff is disabled as defined in the NYSHRL. N.Y. Exec. L. § 292(21). 

69. Defendant Kur is the owner, lessee, proprietor, manager, superintendent, 

agent or employee of a public accommodation.  N.Y. Exec. L. § 296(2)(a). 

70. Defendant Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC is a public 

accommodation as defined in the NYSHRL. N.Y. Exec. L. § 292(9). 

71. Defendant(s) subjected Ms. Brown, because she is HIV-positive to 

degrading and humiliating treatment including but not limited to by (1) calling her 

“disgusting” and a “criminal” because of her HIV-status, (2) threatening to contact her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped, (3) refusing to provide Ms. Brown a 
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prescription for her pain, (4) kicking her out of the dental office and telling her not to 

come back, (5) failing to provide Ms. Brown a follow-up care or a referral for follow-up 

care after her dental procedure, and (6) disclosing her confidential HIV information to 

prompt an investigation of her.  

72. Defendants’ actions constitute unlawful discrimination under the 

NYSHRL. 

73. Plaintiff suffered damages because of Defendants’ discriminatory conduct. 

74. Plaintiff is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory 

damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs. N.Y. Exec. L. § 

297. 

Fifth Cause of Action 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of the Westchester County Human Rights Law 

(Westchester County Code of Ordinances § 700) 

75. Ms. Brown repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in 

the aforementioned paragraphs. 

76. Under the Westchester County Human Rights Law, it is unlawful for “any 

person being the owner, lessee, proprietor, manager, superintendent, agent or employee 

of any place of public accommodation …because of the actual or perceived group 

identity of any person…to refuse, withhold from or deny to such person any of the 

accommodations….”  Westchester County Code of Ordinances § 700.04(a).  

77. Under the Westchester County Human Rights Law “[g]roup identity shall 

mean … disability.” Westchester County Code of Ordinances § 700.02(10). 

78. Plaintiff has a disability as defined in the Westchester County Human 

Rights Westchester County Code of Ordinances § 700.02(4) and (10). 
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79. Defendants are a public accommodation as defined in the Westchester 

County Code of Ordinances § 700.02(16). 

80. Defendant(s) subjected Ms. Brown, because she is HIV-positive to 

degrading and humiliating treatment including but not limited to by (1) calling her 

“disgusting” and a “criminal” because of her HIV-status, (2) threatening to contact her 

insurance company to have her coverage dropped, (3) refusing to provide Ms. Brown a 

prescription for her pain, (4) kicking her out of the dental office and telling her not to 

come back, (5) failing to provide Ms. Brown a follow-up care or a referral for follow-up 

care after her dental procedure, and (6) disclosing her confidential HIV information to 

prompt an investigation of her.  

81. Defendants’ actions constitute unlawful discrimination under the 

Westchester County Human Rights Law. 

82. Defendants’ actions were willful and malicious. 

83. Ms. Brown suffered damages because of Defendants’ discriminatory 

conduct. 

84. Ms. Brown is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory 

and punitive damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs. 

Westchester County Code of Ordinances § 700.11(h). 

Sixth Cause of Action 

Unauthorized Disclosure of HIV-Related Information in Violation of Article 27-F of the 

New York Public Health Law 

 (N.Y. Public Health Law § 2780) 

85. Ms. Brown repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in 

the aforementioned paragraphs. 
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86. Ms. Brown is a “protected individual” under Article 27-F of the New York 

Public Health Law. N.Y. Public Health Law § 2780(6), and the regulations promulgated 

thereunder, 10 N.Y. Comp. Codes R. & Regs. § 63.1(f), because she has been tested for 

HIV and is HIV-positive.  

87. Defendant Kur, a dentist, is a “health care provider” under Article 27-F of 

the New York State Public Health Law, N.Y. Pub. Health Law § 2780(13) and is subject 

to the law’s requirements and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 10 N.Y. Comp. 

Codes R. & Regs. Part 63. 

88. Defendant Westchester Oral & Maxillofacial Associates, PLLC is a 

“health facility” as defined in Article 27-F of the New York State Public Health Law, 

N.Y. Pub. Health Law § 2780(12) and is subject to the law’s requirements and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder, 10 N.Y. Comp. Codes R. & Regs. Part 63. 

89. Defendants obtained confidential HIV-related information about Ms. 

Brown in the course of providing a “health or social service,” as defined by N.Y. Public 

Health Law  § 2780(8), and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 10 N.Y. Comp. 

Codes R. & Regs. § 63.1(h). 

90. In disclosing Ms. Brown’s confidential HIV-related information to the 

Westchester County Department of Health, Defendants violated Article 27-F of the New 

York State Public Health Law, N.Y. Pub. Health Law N.Y. Pub. Health Law § 2782 and 

the regulations promulgated thereunder, 10 N.Y. Comp. Codes R. & Regs. Part 63.1, 

63.2, 63.6, and 63.9. 

91. Defendant’s actions were willful and malicious.  

92. Defendants’ actions were not in good faith.  
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93. Defendants’ action proximately caused and will continue to cause Ms. 

Brown to suffer substantial harm. 

94. Ms. Brown is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, compensatory 

and punitive damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully request that this Court enter a judgment: 

(a) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

violate Title III of the American with Disabilities Act; 

(b) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

violate Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act;  

(c) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

violate Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act;  

(d) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

violate the New York State Human Rights Law;  

(e) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

violate the Westchester County Human Rights Law;  

(f) Declaring that the acts, practices and omissions complained of herein 

constitute unauthorized disclosure of confidential HIV-related information 

in violation of Article 27-F of the New York State Public Health Law; 

(g) Directing Defendants to take affirmative steps, including but not limited to 

revising policies and procedures and training employees on the 

requirements to comply with Title III of the American with Disabilities 

Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the New York State Human 
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Rights Law, the Westchester County Human Rights Law, and Article 27-F 

of the New York State Public Health Law; 

(h) Ordering the Defendants to pay compensatory damages, including 

damages for emotional distress, pain and suffering; 

(i) Ordering the Defendants to pay punitive damages, where available; 

(j) Awarding the Plaintiff reasonable attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and 

costs; and, 

(k) Awarding such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated: November 23, 2016 

            New York, New York    

Respectfully submitted, 

_S/___________________________

By: Richard Saenz, Esq.  

 

Lambda Legal 

Richard Saenz (RS6049) 

120 Wall Street, 19th Floor 

New York, NY 10005-3919 

Tel 212-809-8585 ext. 218 

Fax 212-809-0055 

rsaenz@lambdalegal.org 
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